COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of the meeting of Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee held at The Courtyard Centre for the Arts, Edgar Street, Hereford on Friday, 1st December, 2006 at 10.00 a.m.

Present: Councillor Mrs. M.D. Lloyd-Hayes (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs. P.A. Andrews (Vice Chairman)

Councillors: K.G. Grumbley, J.W. Hope MBE, Ms. G.A. Powell,

Mrs E.A. Taylor and J.P. Thomas.

Co-opted Member: Mr R Kelly (Voluntary Sector)

In attendance: Councillors Mrs. E.M. Bew and R.M. Wilson

31. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillors J.G. Jarvis, R. Mills, R. Preece and P.G. Turpin.

32. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Councillor J.P. Thomas substituted for Councillor R. Preece.

33. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

34. MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 2nd October, 2006 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

35. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE SCRUTINY

There were no suggestions from members of the Public.

36. BUDGET 2006/07

The Committee considered the position on the revenue budget for Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing as at the end of October 2006 and projections to the end of the financial year.

The Interim Finance Manager presented the report updating some of the figures in the report. The projected outturn as at the end of October for Adult Social Care was an overspend of £1.437m against a budget of £31.1m. This compared with a projected outturn in the Integrated Performance Report as at the end of September, as reported to Cabinet on 16 November of £2.743m.

The Director of Adult and Community Services commented that the financial position was significantly better than it had been but there was still a major challenge to face. The recent work on analysis of future social care needs for older people had highlighted the demographic pressures facing the Council.

In response to a question the Head of Strategic Housing Services explained action being taken in respect of homelessness.

RESOLVED: That the projected 2006/07 financial outturn for Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing be noted.

37. ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING PERFORMANCE MONITORING

The Committee considered the performance indicators position and performance management initiatives for the Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Divisions within the Adult and Community Services Directorate.

It was reported that the Commission for Social Care Inspection had given the Council's adult services a one star rating judging that the Council was serving some adults well and that the capacity to improve services was uncertain. Work on the Adult Social Care Improvement Plan was progressing and it was hoped that this would lead to an improved judgment in 2007.

- Best Value Performance Indicator 183b (the average length of stay of Families with Children in hostel accommodation) was discussed. The Head of Strategic Housing Services noted that the figure for the second quarter was high but related to one family. He assured the Committee that officers did seek to encourage people to apply for accommodation but on occasions it was difficult to house some families.
- It was acknowledged that the way in which the Council's one star rating had been reported on the local radio station had not been helpful and ignored the work which had been carried out to improve on the previous rating.
- It was requested that an update be provided on how the In Control pilot project under which individuals with a learning disability were provided with indicative individual budgets was going.

RESOLVED:

THAT (a) that the report on Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing performance be noted;

and

(b) areas of concern continue to be monitored.

38. SCRUTINY REVIEW OF LEARNING DISABILITY SERVICES - CABINET'S RESPONSE

The Committee considered Cabinet's response to the recommendations made to it in the Scrutiny Review of services for people with a learning disability.

It was noted that the majority of the recommendations had been accepted. An action

plan was appended to the report.

A question had been received from a Member of the Public relating to recommendation h: that models of provision should be developed which maximise funding streams, and the comment in the report that moving away from registered residential to more independent living would promote access to other funding streams. The correspondent had asked, "in the enthusiasm to move away from registered residential provision to more independent living is there not a danger that the care package for some individuals in the Community may in fact cost more than if they were in residential care. For example an individual could receive up to 5 visits a day and this might cost more than if they were in a residential set up?"

The reply to the question was as follows:

"National and local consultation has shown that older and disabled people want to have services that enable them to live as independently as possible in their own homes. The development and provision of services that support people to remain independent within their local community is a key priority for the Council.

All services users have a Community Care Assessment to determine their needs, and a care package drawn up to meet these needs. There are some cases where the assessment process identifies needs which are capable of being met by two or more alternative packages, for example an intensive home care package or a residential placement and the cost of the home care package is greater than the residential placement. In such cases the Council will take account of the service users and family's wishes, whether the care package would preserve the person's independence in their own home and the relative cost of alternative care packages. The Local Authority will seek to secure the most cost effective package of care services that meet the individual care needs, taking account of the users and carers own preferences."

RESOLVED: That Cabinet's response to the findings of the review of the services for people with a learning disability be noted and an update provided to the Committee in March.

39. FUTURE SOCIAL CARE NEEDS FOR OLDER PEOPLE AND ADULTS WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES IN HEREFORDSHIRE

The Committee considered the findings and recommendations of the review of future social care needs of older people and people with learning disabilities and the services needed to meet them.

The context for undertaking the review had been that Herefordshire's adult social care services had been facing increasing financial pressures, against a background of continuously increasing user demand. Substantial additional investment and improvements had been made but the Council's performance continued to lag behind high-performing comparable local authorities.

In order to understand the demographic pressures facing the County and the way the pressures might translate into service needs to vulnerable adults the Council, jointly with the Primary Care Trust (PCT) had agreed to commission a detailed needs analysis looking at the demographic pressures and how these might translate into service needs. This work had been independently validated and benchmarked with high-performing authorities elsewhere in the country and was regarded as representing best practice. The costings in the report were also considered robust.

The report and appendices set out the analysis undertaken and summarised the conclusions both in terms of the demography and the way in which that demography would translate into increased service needs and budget pressures.

The reports also set out a strategy for the future based on a significant shift to a more preventative model of services, which would require a much greater contribution from the voluntary sector.

It was stated that this new model of service would require some additional investment but not as much as would the current model of service. It would also enable the Council to improve significantly the quality of services available to the residents of Herefordshire.

The Corporate Policy and Research Manager gave a presentation highlighting key aspects of the report. This summarised the assessment of the needs of older people and people with learning disabilities, how the Authority's performance and approach compared with comparator authorities and the proposed way ahead.

In the course of discussion the following principal points were made:

- The issue of housing needs and provision of affordable housing was discussed.
 It was noted that it was hoped that the new Unitary Development Plan would help deliver more affordable houses.
- The report noted the importance of the voluntary sector contribution to the proposed better services, particularly so as to enable people to continue to live independent lives in their own communities. The Committee was informed that from the Voluntary Sector's perspective the report was impressive. The Herefordshire Alliance of Voluntary Sector Organisations was undertaking a considerable amount of work to improve service delivery capability and accredit suppliers. Nevertheless a huge task was faced.
- Attention was drawn by Members to the references in the report to the fundamental importance of good ICT systems including systems for data collection and analysis. It was proposed that the importance of developing appropriate, effective and compatible systems with the Council's partner organisations should be emphasised to Cabinet.
- A question was asked about changes to the thresholds governing eligibility for care. In reply it was stated good practice focused on preventative action and utilising alternatives to professional health and social care where these were appropriate. Making this change in the approach to service delivery could make it possible to avoid raising the thresholds for professional care, although thresholds would need to remain.
- The proposal to generate more income from users and its implications was discussed. It was noted that whilst the issues were undoubtedly complex, there were higher performing authorities who were equally committed to avoiding creating a bigger poverty trap and had at least as high levels of income deprivation. (The highest charger of the comparator authorities, East Riding, had a higher level of income deprivation than Herefordshire.) It was further noted that those who were income deprived would not pay charges.
- Whilst raising charges was a difficult decision to take, in the financial climate councils faced it appeared to be one of the few ways of increasing the resources

available, so ensuring that an appropriate level and quality of services could be provided to all who would need them.

• The question of respite provision for family carers was raised in particular, referring as an example to the planned closure of Windsor Place, Leominster. In reply it was stated that the intention to reduce the number of properties the Council held had been agreed by Cabinet. A commitment had been given that Windsor Place, Leominster would not be closed until alternative provision was in place. There were a number of possible models of care.

The importance of keeping people including Ward Members clearly informed of the Council's proposals was emphasised.

It was proposed that given the importance and complexity of the issues and the
careful consideration these would require that steps be taken to ensure that
every Councillor was made aware of the issues and kept informed. The Director
of Adult and Community Services stated his intention to brief Members and to
hold a seminar with the voluntary sector, a range of other users, stakeholders
and staff.

RESOLVED:

- THAT (a) the recommendations of the review of future social care needs of older people and people with learning disabilities and the services needed to meet them be endorsed for consideration by Cabinet;
 - (b) the Committee's concern about the current ICT systems for data collection and analysis and the importance of developing appropriate, effective and compatible ICT systems, including with the Primary Care Trust as part of the development of the proposed Public Service Trust, should be emphasised to Cabinet;

and

(c) recognising the importance and complexity of the issues and that these will require careful consideration Cabinet be advised that every Councillor needs to be made aware of these issues and kept informed.

40. LOCAL AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVISION OF CARE IN REGISTERED SETTINGS

The Committee was informed of the Local Authority's responsibilities in relation to the provision of care in registered care home settings and the associated financial commitments.

The report noted the requirement on Local Authorities to provide care homes and the desire of most older and disabled people to have services provided which enabled them to live as independently as possible in their own homes. Local authorities were expected to seek a financial contribution from individuals towards the costs of the care. The processes for assessing that contribution for care at home and care in a registered care home were set out in appendices to the report.

It was noted that whereas charges for care in a care home were prescribed by Government the Council had more discretion in setting charges for care at home. Recommendations on this point were being made in the Adult Social Care Improvement Plan and arising from the review of future social care needs, the subject of a separate report to the meeting.

The Committee noted also the requirements governing the contribution of the Primary Care Trust in relation to the provision of nursing care in a care home and the importance of a co-ordinated and consistent approach to care assessment with the Council.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

41. ACCESSING MINOR ADAPTATIONS

The Committee was informed of arrangements for the provision of minor adaptations to homes within Herefordshire.

It was reported that processes were examined to seek to generate efficiencies. Attention was drawn in particular to the increase in the scope for self-referral to the Occupational Therapy service whereas traditionally this had been through a GP and the success this had had in enabling simple needs to be met more quickly and allowing more Occupational Therapy staff time then to be focused on more complex assessments.

The preventative benefits of the <u>you@home</u> repairs service providing assistance to vulnerable people in their homes by carrying out essential or urgent works up to the value of £1,000 was also highlighted.

RESOLVED: That the arrangements for accessing minor adaptations in Herefordshire be noted.

42. ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee considered its work programme.

The intention to include a report summarising recommendations made by the Committee and corresponding outcomes was noted.

RESOLVED: That the work programme as amended be approved and reported to the Strategic Monitoring Committee.

The meeting ended at 12.25 p.m.

CHAIRMAN